KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION INC

Form 10-Q May 10, 2017

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017

Or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission File Number: 001-32396

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Arizona 86-0649974

(I.R.S.

(State or other jurisdiction of Employer incorporation or organization) Identification

No.)

20002 North 19th Avenue Phoenix, Arizona 85027 (Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone

number, including area code:

602-269-2000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this Chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes No

Indicate by check mark whe	ther the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a
smaller reporting company,	or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,"
"accelerated filer," "smaller	reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer [X]	Accelerated filer []
Non-accelerated filer []	Smaller reporting company []
	Emerging growth company []

If an emerging company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

The number of shares outstanding of registrant's common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, as of April 30, 2017, was 80,420,146 shares.

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page Number
PART I – I	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements	
	Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016	1
	Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Income for the three months ended March 31 2017 and 2016	- 3
	Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016	4
	Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016	5
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Financial Statements	7
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	20
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	35
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	35
Part II – O'	THER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	36
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	36
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	37
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	37
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	37
Item 5.	Other Information	38
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	38
Signatures		39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Balance Sheets (in thousands)

	March 31, 2017	December 31, 2016
ASSETS		
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$44,777	\$8,021
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$2,555 and \$2,727,		,
respectively	127,624	142,167
Notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful notes receivable of \$233 and \$240,	•	,
respectively	546	560
Prepaid expenses	14,239	13,244
Assets held for sale	12,550	9,634
Other current assets	8,174	8,159
Income tax receivable	2,263	8,406
Total current assets	210,173	190,191
Property and Equipment:		
Revenue equipment	898,081	910,042
Land and land improvements	54,777	54,106
Buildings and building improvements	146,971	145,866
Furniture and fixtures	21,396	20,241
Shop and service equipment	17,081	16,859
Leasehold improvements	4,728	4,735
Gross property and equipment	1,143,034	1,151,849
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization	(363,963)	
Property and equipment, net	779,071	802,858
Notes receivable, long-term	2,840	3,047
Goodwill	47,026	47,031
Intangible assets, net	2,450	2,575
Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments	28,193	32,823
Total long-term assets	859,580	888,334
Total assets	\$1,069,753	\$1,078,525

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Balance Sheets (continued) (in thousands, except par values)

	March 31, 2017	December 31, 2016
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current Liabilities:		* * * * * * * * * *
Accounts payable	\$10,884	\$18,006
Accrued payroll and purchased transportation	22,144	25,017
Accrued liabilities	20,185	16,722
Claims accrual – current portion	19,476	18,633
Dividend payable – current portion	290	272
Total current liabilities	72,979	78,650
Long-term Liabilities:		
Claims accrual – long-term portion	13,886	13,290
Long-term dividend payable and other liabilities	1,569	1,854
Deferred tax liabilities	180,910	178,000
Long-term debt	-	18,000
Total long-term liabilities	196,365	211,144
Total liabilities	269,344	289,794
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)		
Shareholders' Equity:		
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 80,399 and 80,229 shares	-	-
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively	804	802
Additional paid-in capital	226,779	223,267
Retained earnings	570,826	562,404
Total Knight Transportation shareholders' equity	798,409	786,473
Noncontrolling interest	2,000	2,258
Total shareholders' equity	800,409	788,731
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$1,069,753	\$1,078,525

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Income (in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended	
	March 31,	
	2017	2016
REVENUE:	****	
Revenue, before fuel surcharge	\$244,980	
Fuel surcharge	26,202	18,505
Total revenue	271,182	272,088
OPERATING EXPENSES:		
Salaries, wages and benefits	82,510	83,603
Fuel	35,232	26,771
Operations and maintenance	20,653	18,010
Insurance and claims	8,571	8,823
Operating taxes and licenses	4,431	5,487
Communications	1,186	1,205
Depreciation and amortization	29,682	28,402
Purchased transportation	58,625	57,785
Miscellaneous operating expenses	7,654	3,275
Total operating expenses	248,544	233,361
Operating income	22,638	38,727
Interest income	58	94
Interest expense	(82)	
Other income	722	1,286
Income before income taxes	23,336	39,806
and only denote indente tunies	20,000	27,000
Income taxes	8,230	16,336
Net income	15,106	23,470
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest	(230)	` /
Net income attributable to Knight Transportation	\$14,876	\$23,017
Earnings per share:		
Basic	\$0.19	\$0.29
Diluted	\$0.18	\$0.28
Diluted	ψ0.10	ψ0.20
Dividends declared per share	\$0.06	\$0.06
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:		
Basic	80,310	80,707
Diluted	81,255	81,468
Diluca	01,233	01,700

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

Three Months

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Comprehensive Income (in thousands)

	Ended March 31	,
	2017	2016
Net income	\$15,106	\$23,470
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:		
Realized gains from available-for-sale securities reclassified to net income ⁽¹⁾	-	(981)
Unrealized gain from changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities ⁽²⁾	-	123
Comprehensive income	\$15,106	\$22,612
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest	(230)	(453)
Comprehensive income attributable to Knight Transportation	\$14,876	\$22,159

- (1) Net of current income tax expense of \$0, and \$614, respectively.
- (2) Net of deferred income tax expense of \$0, and \$76, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands)

	Three Mon Ended March 31, 2017	ths 2016
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:	¢ 15 106	¢02.470
Net income	\$15,106	\$23,470
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	20.692	20.402
Depreciation and amortization	29,682	28,402
Gain on sale of equipment	(807)	
Gain from sale of available-for-sale securities	- 52	(1,595)
Transportation Resource Partners impairment	53	-
(Income)/loss from investment in Transportation Resource Partners	(776)	308
Provision for doubtful accounts and notes receivable	(61)	28
Stock-based compensation expense, net	1,419	780
Deferred income taxes	2,909	1,431
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Trade receivables	14,600	28
Other current assets	(15)	5,853
Prepaid expenses	(995)	662
Income tax receivable	6,143	14,269
Other long-term assets	64	(149)
Accounts payable	(3,841)	
Accrued liabilities	564	(6,316)
Claims accrual	1,439	1,248
Claims accidal	1,437	1,240
Net cash provided by operating activities	65,484	69,375
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:		
Purchases of property and equipment	(17,017)	(34,783)
Proceeds from sale of equipment/assets held for sale	5,442	23,065
Proceeds from notes receivable	641	412
Change in restricted cash and investments	(21)	(16)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities	-	2,852
Cash payments to Transportation Resource Partners	_	(10,974)
Cash proceeds from Transportation Resource Partners	5,315	423
Net cash used in investing activities	(5,640)	(19,021)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Statements of Cash Flows (continued) (in thousands)

1)
1)
1)
)
)
)
,
(3)
1
2
7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Financial Information

References in this Report on Form 10-Q to "we," "us," "our," "Knight," or the "Company" or similar terms refer to Knight Transportation, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements of Knight Transportation, Inc. and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and Regulation S-X, instructions to Form 10-Q, and other relevant rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), as applicable to the preparation and presentation of interim financial information. Certain information and footnote disclosures have been omitted or condensed pursuant to such rules and regulations. We believe all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Results of operations in interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year. These condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements and notes thereto should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, we early adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvement to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (ASU 2016-09). The standard requires us to reflect any adoption adjustments as of the beginning of the annual period that includes the interim period of adoption. As such, our condensed consolidated statements of income, statements of comprehensive income and statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2016, have been recast to include the impact of ASU 2016-09 adoption. See "Note 1—Significant Accounting Policies" in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 for detailed adoption information.

Note 2. Stock-Based Compensation

In May 2015, our shareholders approved the Amended and Restated 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan"). This plan combines into a single plan the Company's 2005 Executive Cash Bonus Plan (the "2005 Plan") and the 2012 Equity Compensation Plan (the "2012 Plan") and allows for future grants under the 2015 Plan. Grants outstanding under the 2005 Plan and 2012 Plan will continue in force and effect and continue to be governed solely by the terms and conditions of the instrument evidencing such grants, and will be interpreted under the terms of the 2005 Plan and the 2012 Plan, as applicable. Since approval of the 2015 Plan in May 2015, all grants of stock-based compensation are made under the 2015 Plan. Stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017, and 2016, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Three M Ended March 3	31,
	(in thou	
	2017	2016
Stock compensation expense for options, net of forfeitures	\$347	\$371
Stock compensation expense for restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units, net of		
forfeitures	1,072	409
Total stock compensation expense, net of forfeitures	\$1,419	\$780

Our policy is to recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.

As of March 31, 2017, we have approximately \$2.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options. We expect to recognize this cost over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years and a total period of 2.9 years. We have approximately \$7.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock units, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years and a total period of 5.8 years. We also have approximately \$2.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested performance restricted stock units. We expect to recognize this cost over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years and total period of 2.8 years.

No stock options were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and a total of 569,480 stock options were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2016. We received approximately \$2.1 million in cash from the exercise of stock options during the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to \$2.6 million for the same period in 2016.

A summary of the option award activity under our equity compensation plans for the three months ended March 31, 2017 is presented below:

		Weighted
		Average
		Exercise
	Option	Price Per
	Totals	Share
Outstanding as of December 31, 2016	1,737,400	\$ 23.19
Granted	-	-
Exercised	(94,730)	22.44
Forfeited	(89,708)	27.07
Outstanding as of March 31, 2017	1,552,962	\$ 23.02

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. Listed below are the weighted-average assumptions used for the fair value computation:

	Th	ree	
	Mo	onths	
	En	ded	
	Ma	arch 31,	
	20	1 2 016	
Dividend yield (1)	-	0.99	%
Expected volatility (2)	-	27.91	%
Risk-free interest rate (3)	-	0.90	%
		2.74	
Expected term (4)	-	years	
Weighted-average fair value of options granted	-	\$4.28	

- (1) Dividend yield the dividend yield is based on our historical experience and future expectation of dividend payouts.
- (2) Expected volatility we analyzed the volatility of our stock using historical data.
- Risk-free interest rate the risk-free interest rate assumption is based on U.S. Treasury securities at a constant maturity with a maturity period that most closely resembles the expected term of the stock option award. Expected term the expected term of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period the stock
- (4) options are expected to remain outstanding and has been determined based on an analysis of historical exercise behavior.

No restricted stock unit awards were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and 350 restricted stock unit awards were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2016. A summary of the restricted stock unit award activity under our equity compensation plans for the three months ended March 31, 2017, is presented below:

		Weighted
		Average
	Number of	Grant
	Restricted	Date
	Stock Unit	Fair
	Awards	Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2016	686,786	\$ 16.46
Granted	-	-
Vested	(124,991)	16.78
Cancelled	(4,280)	23.82
Unvested as of March 31, 2017	557,515	\$ 16.75

The fair value of each restricted stock unit is based on the closing market price on the date of grant.

Beginning in 2014, we issued performance restricted stock units ("PRSUs") to selected key employees that may be earned based on revenue growth and return on assets, and may then be modified based on our total shareholder return, as defined in the instrument evidencing the grant, over a three-year period. The primary award adjustment may range from 0 percent to 150 percent of the initial grant, based upon performance achieved over the three-year period. The primary award modifier, which would multiply the adjusted primary award by 75 percent to 125 percent, is measured by determining the percentile rank of the total shareholder return, as defined in the instrument evidencing the grant, of Knight Transportation common stock in relation to the total shareholder return of a peer group for the three-year period. The final award will be based on performance achieved in accordance with the scale set forth in the plan

agreement. PRSUs do not earn dividend equivalents.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

No PRSUs were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and a total of 177,741 PRSUs were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2016. A summary of the performance restricted stock unit award activity under our equity compensation plans for the three months ended March 31, 2017 is presented below:

Unvested as of December 31, 2016 Granted Shares earned above target Vested	Number of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Awards 508,478	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value \$ 25.60
2	-	-
	-	-
Cancelled	-	-
Unvested as of March 31, 2017	508,478	\$ 25.60

The number of granted shares, cancelled shares, and unvested shares are included in the table above based on the performance target established at the initial grant date.

The fair value of each PRSU grant is estimated on the grant date using the Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model. Listed below are the weighted-average assumptions used for the fair value computation:

		onths	
	Enc		
	Ma	rch 31,	
	201	2 016	
Dividend yield (1)	-	0.99	%
Expected volatility (2)	-	27.95	%
Average peer volatility (2)	-	34.37	%
Average peer correlation coefficient (3)	-	0.6022	2
Risk-free interest rate (4)	-	0.89	%
		2.84	
Expected term (5)	-	years	
Weighted-average fair value of PRSUs granted	-	\$23.89	

- The dividend yield, used to project stock price to the end of the performance period, is based on our historical experience and future expectation of dividend payouts. Total shareholder return is determined assuming that dividends are reinvested in the issuing entity over the performance period, which is mathematically equivalent to utilizing a 0% dividend yield.
- We (or peer company) estimated volatility using our (or their) historical share price performance over the remaining performance period as of the grant date.
- The correlation coefficients are used to model the way in which each entity tends to move in relation to each other; the correlation assumptions were developed using the same stock price data as the volatility assumptions.
- The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on U.S. Treasury securities at a constant maturity with a maturity period that most closely resembles the expected term of the performance award.

(5)

Since the Monte Carlo simulation valuation is an open form model that uses an expected life commensurate with the performance period, the expected life of the PRSUs was assumed to be the period from the grant date to the end of the performance period.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note 3. Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, is as follows (dollars in thousands except per share data):

	Three Mo Ended	onths
	March 31	ļ,
	2017	2016
Weighted-average common shares outstanding – basic	80,310	80,707
Dilutive effect of stock options and unvested restricted stock units (1)	945	761
Weighted-average common shares outstanding – diluted	81,255	81,468
Net income attributable to Knight Transportation (1)	\$14,876	\$23,017
Basic earnings per share	\$0.19	\$0.29
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.18	\$0.28

We early adopted ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting during the fourth quarter of 2016. The adoption of this standard resulted in the recognition of \$1.8 million of excess tax benefits to the income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2016. Net income and shares outstanding data for the three months ended March 31, 2016 are presented as if the ASU was adopted at the beginning of 2016.

Certain shares of options, restricted stock units, and PRSUs (collectively, "equity awards") were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the equity awards' exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares and the sum total of assumed proceeds resulted in fewer shares repurchased than the weighted equity awards outstanding hypothetically exercised per the treasury method.

The number of anti-dilutive shares are:

 $\begin{array}{ccc} & & \text{Three Months Ended} \\ & \text{March 31,} \\ & 2017 & 2016 \\ \\ \text{Number of anti-dilutive shares} & 235,197 & 1,025,129 \\ \end{array}$

Note 4. Segment Information

We have two operating and reportable segments: (i) the Trucking segment comprised of three operating units (Dry Van, Refrigerated, and Drayage), and (ii) the Logistics segment comprised of two operating units (Brokerage and Intermodal). We also provide logistics, freight management and other non-trucking services through our Logistics businesses. Through our Trucking and Logistics segment capabilities, we are able to transport, or can arrange for the transportation of, general commodities for customers throughout the United States and parts of Canada and Mexico.

In determining our reportable segments, we focus on financial information such as total revenues and expenses, operating income, operating ratios, and other key operating statistics common in the industry. The chief operating decision maker also uses this information to evaluate segment performance and allocate resources to our operations.

Our segments provide transportation and related services for one another. Such services are billed at cost, and no profit is earned. Such intersegment revenues and expenses are eliminated in our consolidated results.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The following table sets forth revenue and operating income between the Trucking and Logistics segments for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in thousands).

	Three Mont	hs	Three Months	
	Ended		Ended	
	March 31, 2	2017	March 31, 2	2016
Revenues:	\$	%	\$	%
Trucking Segment	\$218,690	80.6%	\$217,956	80.1%
Logistics Segment	54,188	20.0	58,609	21.5
Subtotal	272,878		276,565	
Intersegment Eliminations Trucking	(28)	0.0	(38)	0.0
Intersegment Eliminations Logistics	(1,668)	(0.6)	(4,439)	(1.6)
Total	\$271,182	100 %	\$272,088	100 %
Operating Income:				
Trucking Segment	\$20,260	89.5%	\$35,922	92.8%
Logistics Segment	2,378	10.5	2,805	7.2
Total	\$22,638	100 %	\$38,727	100 %

No segmental asset or liability information is provided as we do not prepare balance sheets by segment, and the chief operating decision maker does not review segment assets or liabilities to make operating decisions.

Note 5. Joint Ventures

In 2014, we formed an Arizona limited liability company, Kool Trans, LLC, for the purpose of expanding our refrigerated trucking business. In 2015, we changed the company name to Kold Trans, LLC. We are entitled to 80% of the profits of the entity and have effective control over the management of the entity. In accordance with ASC 810-10-15-8, Consolidation, we consolidate the financial activities of this entity into these condensed consolidated financial statements. The noncontrolling interest for this entity is presented as a separate component of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

In 2010, we partnered with a non-related investor to form an Arizona limited liability company for the purpose of sourcing commercial vehicle parts. We contributed \$26,000 to acquire 52% ownership of this entity. In accordance with ASC 810-10-15-8, Consolidation, we consolidate the financial activities of this entity into the condensed consolidated financial statements. The noncontrolling interest for this entity is presented as a separate component of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

We are a party to certain claims and pending litigation arising in the normal course of business. These proceedings primarily involve claims for personal injury, property damage, physical damage, and cargo loss incurred in the transportation of freight or for personnel matters, as well as certain class action litigation in which plaintiffs allege failure to provide meal and rest breaks, unpaid wages, unauthorized deductions, and other items.

We are insured against auto liability ("AL") claims under a primary self-insured retention ("SIR") policy with retention ranging from \$1.0 million to \$3.0 million per occurrence and in some years, depending on the applicable policy year, we have been responsible for aggregate losses up to \$1.5 million within the primary AL layer. For the policy period March 1, 2017 to March 1, 2018, the SIR is \$1.0 million, subject to an annual aggregate limit. For the policy period March 1, 2016 to March 1, 2017, the SIR was \$2.5 million with no additional aggregate limits or deductibles within

the primary AL policy. We secured excess liability coverage up to \$130.0 million per occurrence for the policy periods March 1, 2017 to March 1, 2018, and March 1, 2016 to March 1, 2017. We also carry a \$2.5 million aggregate deductible for any loss or losses within the excess coverage layer.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We are self-insured for workers' compensation coverage. On March 31, 2016, the self-retention level was increased from a maximum \$500,000 per occurrence to a maximum \$1.0 million per occurrence. We also maintain primary and excess coverage for employee medical expenses and hospitalization, with self-insured retention of \$240,000 per claimant in 2017 and 2016.

Based on our present knowledge of the facts, and in certain cases, advice of outside counsel, management believes the resolution of open claims and pending litigation, taking into account existing reserves, and accrued liabilities recorded is not likely to have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 7. Property and Equipment

To ensure that our facilities remain modern and efficient, we periodically have facility upgrades, or new construction, in process at our various service center or corporate headquarters locations. Until these projects are completed, we consider these to be assets not yet placed in service and they are not depreciated. Once they are placed into service, we depreciate them according to our depreciation policy. At March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we had approximately \$4.6 million and \$13.0 million, respectively, of facility construction in process assets included under "Buildings and building improvements" on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangibles, net

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of our acquisitions over the fair value of the net assets acquired. The tax benefit from the recognition on the tax return of the amortization of the excess tax goodwill over book goodwill is treated as a reduction in the book basis of goodwill.

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months
Ended March
31,
2017
Goodwill at beginning of period \$47,031
Amortization relating to deferred tax assets (5)
Goodwill at end of period \$47,026

In conjunction with our acquisitions, identifiable intangible assets subject to amortization have been recorded at fair value and are being amortized over a weighted-average amortization period of 7.6 years.

Intangible asset balances were as follows (dollars in thousands):

	March December	
	31,	31,
	2017	2016
Gross carrying amount	\$3,700	\$ 3,700
Accumulated amortization	(1,250)	(1,125)
Intangible assets, net	\$2,450	\$ 2,575

Amortization expense associated with these intangible assets was \$0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is included in "Depreciation and amortization" on the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income. Future amortization expense for intangible assets is estimated at \$0.4 million for the remainder of 2017, \$0.5 million for each of the years 2018 and 2019, \$0.4 million per year in 2020 and 2021, and \$0.3 million in 2022.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note 9. Investments and Related Commitments

Investment balances included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets were as follows (dollars in thousands):

	March	December
	31,	31,
	2017	2016
Investment in Transportation Resource Partners (TRP)	\$214	\$ 214
Investment in Transportation Resource Partners III (TRP III)	5,529	5,882
Investment in Transportation Resource Partners IV (TRP IV)	1,352	1,882
Investment in Transportation Resource Partners CoInvest Partners, (NTI) I, LP (TRP		
Coinvestment)	8,969	10,000
Investment in Transportation Resource Partners CoInvest Partners, (QLS) I, LP (TRP		
Coinvestment QLS)	7,057	9,735
	\$23,121	\$ 27,713

In 2003, we signed a partnership agreement with Transportation Resource Partners ("TRP"), a company that makes privately negotiated equity investments. Per the original partnership agreement, we committed to invest \$5.0 million in TRP. In 2006, we increased the commitment amount to \$5.5 million. No gain or loss was recognized from TRP investment activity in the three months ended March 31, 2017 or the three months ended March 31, 2016. Our investment in TRP is accounted for using the cost method, as the level of influence over the operations of TRP is minor, and the balance is included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In 2008, we formed Knight Capital Growth, LLC and committed \$15.0 million to invest in another partnership managed and operated by the managers and principals of TRP. This partnership, Transportation Resource Partners III, LP ("TRP III"), is focused on investment opportunities similar to TRP. In 2015, TRP III released us from \$2.1 million of our outstanding commitment. As of March 31, 2017, we have contributed approximately \$11.1 million to TRP III, leaving an outstanding commitment of \$1.8 million. We recorded income from our investment in TRP III of approximately \$0.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, and a loss of approximately \$0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Our investment in TRP III is accounted for using the equity method, and the carrying value of our investment is included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In 2015, we committed to invest in another TRP partnership, TRP Capital Partners, LP ("TRP IV"). TRP IV is managed and operated by the managers and principals of TRP and TRP III, and is focused on similar investment opportunities. We committed to contribute a total of \$4.9 million to TRP IV, and have contributed approximately \$2.0 million, leaving an outstanding commitment of approximately \$2.9 million as of March 31, 2017. We received distributions from TRP IV of approximately \$0.4 million, and recorded impairment of approximately \$53,000 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. No activity was recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2016. Our investment in TRP IV is accounted for using the cost method, as the level of influence over the operations of TRP IV is minor, and the balance is included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In the first quarter of 2016, we committed to invest in another TRP partnership, TRP CoInvest Partners, (NTI) I, LP ("TRP Coinvestment"). The new partnership is managed and operated by the managers and principals of the other TRP partnerships, and is focused on similar investment opportunities. We committed to contribute, and have paid a total of, \$10.0 million to the new partnership, leaving no outstanding commitment as of March 31, 2017. We recorded a loss

from our investment in TRP Coinvestment of approximately \$1.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and no income or loss was recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2016. Our investment in TRP Coinvestment is accounted for using the equity method, and the carrying value is included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In the third quarter of 2016, we committed to invest in another TRP partnership, TRP CoInvest Partners, (QLS) I, LP ("TRP Coinvestment QLS"). The new partnership is managed and operated by the managers and principals of the other TRP partnerships, and is focused on similar investment opportunities. We committed to contribute, and have paid a total of, \$9.7 million to the new partnership, leaving no outstanding commitment as of March 31, 2017. We recorded income from our investment in TRP Coinvestment QLS of approximately \$1.3 million, and received distributions of approximately \$4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. Our investment in TRP Coinvestment is accounted for using the equity method, and the carrying value is included in "Other long-term assets, restricted cash and investments" on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Note 10. Marketable Equity Securities

We have, from time to time, held certain marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale securities, which are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, as a component of "Accumulated other comprehensive income" in shareholders' equity on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included in the determination of net income. We use specific identification to determine the cost of securities sold, or amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings and included in "Other income" on the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income.

The following table shows the Company's realized gains during the three month periods ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, on certain securities that were classified as available-for-sale (dollars in thousands).

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012/016

Realized gains

Sales proceeds - \$2,852 Cost of securities sold - 1,257 Realized gain - \$1,595

Realized gains, net of taxes - \$981

During the third quarter of 2016, we disposed of our holdings in available-for-sale equity investments, leaving no balance on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

Note 11. Assets Held for Sale

Revenue equipment that is not utilized in continuing operations and is held for sale is classified as "Assets held for sale" on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. Assets held for sale at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, totaled \$12.6 million and \$9.6 million, respectively. Assets held for sale are no longer subject to depreciation, and are recorded at the lower of depreciated carrying value or fair market value less selling costs. We expect to sell these assets and replace them with new assets within twelve months of being classified as "Assets held for sale."

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note 12. Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. For interim reporting purposes, our income tax provisions are recorded based on the estimated annual effective tax rate. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and recent financial operations. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets has not been deemed necessary due to our profitable operations.

We recognize a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. We file federal and state income tax returns with varying statutes of limitations. The 2012 through 2016 tax years remain subject to examination by federal and state tax authorities. As of March 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, cumulative gross unrecognized tax benefits were \$0.7 million.

If recognized, the \$0.7 million balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2017 would affect our effective tax rate, but would not result in adjustments to other tax accounts, including deferred taxes.

We believe it is reasonably possible that a decrease of up to \$0.7 million in unrecognized tax benefits related to federal tax credit claims for refund may be necessary within the coming year due to settlement of such tax credit claims with the relevant taxing authority.

Potential interest and penalty accruals and reversals related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized as a component of income tax expense. As of March 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, there were no interest or penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits.

Note 13. Company Share Repurchase Program

In 2011, our Board of Directors unanimously authorized the repurchase of 10.0 million shares of our common stock. The repurchase authorization is intended to afford flexibility to acquire shares opportunistically in future periods and does not indicate an intention to repurchase any particular number of shares within a definite timeframe. Any repurchases would be effected based upon share price and market conditions. Our share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any specific number of shares. Under the program, shares may be repurchased in privately negotiated and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act.

Under the share repurchase program, we made no repurchases of our common stock in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and repurchased 1.1 million shares for \$27.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2016. As of March 31, 2017, there were 4.2 million shares remaining for future purchases under our repurchase program. The repurchase authorization will remain in effect until the share limit is reached or the program is terminated.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note 14. Fair Value Measurements

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on principles set forth in ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure, for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. This standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This standard establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the significant inputs used to determine fair value. Observable inputs are those which are obtained from market participants external to us while unobservable inputs are generally developed internally, utilizing management's estimates, assumptions, and specific knowledge of the nature of the assets or liabilities and related markets. The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at the measurement date. An active market is defined as a market in which transactions for the assets or liabilities occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 – Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active (markets with few transactions), inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs, only used to the extent that observable inputs are not available, reflect our assumptions about the pricing of an asset or liability.

In accordance with the fair value hierarchy described above, the following table shows the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (dollars in thousands).

	Total	Total	Level O	ne	Level T	wo	Leve	el Three
	Balance		Balance		Balance		Bala	nce
	at	Balance	at	Balance	at	Balance	at	Balance
	March	at	March	at	March	at	Mar	e h t
	31,	December	31,	December	31,	December	31,	December
	2017	31, 2016	2017	31, 2016	2017	31, 2016	2017	731, 2016
Restricted cash and investments:								
Money market funds	\$1,409	\$ 1,385	\$1,409	\$ 1,385	-	-	-	-
Trading securities:								
Debt securities - municipal securities	\$1,901	\$ 1,903	-	_	\$1,901	\$ 1,903	-	-

Note 15. Notes Receivable

We provide financing to independent contractors and third parties on equipment sold or leased under our equipment sale program. Most of the notes are collateralized and are due in weekly installments, comprised of principal and interest payments. Interest rates are set forth in the contracts and generally range from 2.0% to 20%.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The notes receivable balances are classified separately between current and long-term in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. The current and long-term balances of our notes receivable at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

	March	
	31,	December
	2017	31, 2016
Notes receivable from independent contractors	\$1,259	\$ 1,039
Notes receivable from third parties	2,360	2,808
Gross notes receivable	3,619	3,847
Allowance for doubtful notes receivable	(233)	(240)
Total notes receivable, net of allowance	3,386	\$ 3,607
Current portion, net of allowance	546	560
Long-term portion	\$2,840	\$ 3,047

Note 16. Line of Credit

We maintain a revolving line of credit which permits revolving borrowings and letters of credit. The line of credit is maintained at \$300.0 million and matures August 1, 2019. We incur interest on borrowings under the line of credit at either the prime rate or LIBOR plus 0.625%, determined by us at the time of borrowing. We had no outstanding borrowings, other than letters of credit, under the line of credit as of March 31, 2017, compared to \$18.0 million as of December 31, 2016. The weighted average variable annual percentage rate ("APR") for amounts borrowed during the three months ended March 31, 2017 was 1.40%. Borrowings under the line of credit are recorded on the "Long-term debt" line of the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of March 31, 2017, we also utilized \$31.3 million of the line of credit for letters of credit issued to various regulatory authorities and insurance carriers in connection with our self-insurance programs. With the outstanding letters of credit, we have \$268.7 million available for future borrowings as of March 31, 2017. After consideration of fees incurred for the unused portion of our line of credit, our weighted average variable APR for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was 3.91%. We are obligated to comply with certain financial and other covenants under the line of credit agreement and were in compliance with such covenants at and for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Note 17. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. This update simplifies how an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment. Under the new guidance, annual or interim goodwill impairment testing will be performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. Any impairment loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. We are currently evaluating the effect that adopting this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, which requires companies to include amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in cash and cash equivalents when reconciling beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. These amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those years. These amendments should be applied using a retrospective method to each period presented. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this standard but do not expect adoption to have a

significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 203): Classification of Certain Cash receipts and Cash Payments. This update addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this standard but do not expect adoption to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net). This update clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. The guidance includes indicators to assist an entity in determining whether it controls a specified good or service before it is transferred to the customers. The amendments in this update affect the guidance in ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which requires revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance in this update supersedes virtually all present U.S. GAAP guidance on revenue recognition. The amendments to the standard require the use of more estimates and judgments than the present standards and require additional disclosures. The guidance permits two methods of adoption: retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented (the full retrospective approach), or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application (the modified retrospective approach). The amendments in these updates will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted, but no earlier than January 1, 2017.

We are in the early stages of evaluating the effect that adopting the new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements. We have established a team to evaluate and implement this standard and expect to be substantially complete with our evaluation, and provide additional information about any financial impact of adoption, by the time we file our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017. Currently, we anticipate adopting the standard using the modified retrospective approach, and are still evaluating the impact adoption will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This update seeks to increase the transparency and comparability among entities by requiring public entities to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. To satisfy the standard's objective, a lessee will recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments. Both the right-of-use asset and lease liability will initially be measured at the present value of the lease payments, with subsequent measurement dependent on the classification of the lease as either a finance or an operating lease. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. If a lessee makes this election, it should recognize lease expense for such leases generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Accounting by lessors will remain mostly unchanged from current U.S. GAAP.

In transition, lessees and lessors are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach. The modified retrospective approach includes a number of optional practical expedients that companies may elect to apply. These practical expedients relate to the identification and classification of leases that commenced before the effective date, initial direct costs for leases that commenced before the effective date, and the ability to use hindsight in evaluating lessee options to extend or terminate a lease or to purchase the underlying asset. The transition guidance also provides specific guidance for sale and leaseback transactions, build-to-suit leases, leveraged leases, and amounts previously recognized in accordance with the business combinations guidance for leases. The new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those years, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that adopting this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10). This update was issued to enhance the reporting model for financial instruments regarding certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure. The update (i) requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method or that are consolidated) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; (ii) simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment; (iii) eliminates the requirement for an entity to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortized cost; (iv) requires an entity to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; and (v) requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset on the balance sheet or in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. These provisions are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual periods. The standard is to be applied using a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the year of adoption. We are currently evaluating the effect that adopting this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

On April 10, 2017, we announced that our board of directors and the board of directors of Swift Transportation Company ("Swift") unanimously approved a merger of Knight and Swift in an all-stock transaction. The combined company will be named Knight-Swift Transportation Holdings Inc. ("Knight-Swift"). Under the terms of the definitive agreement, each Swift share will convert into 0.72 shares of Knight-Swift by means of a reverse stock split. Each share of Knight will be exchanged for one Knight-Swift share. Upon closing the transaction, Swift shareholders will own approximately 54% and Knight shareholders will own approximately 46% of Knight-Swift. The transaction, which is expected to close in the third quarter of 2017, is subject to customary conditions, including the approval of the shareholders of Knight and Swift, as well as antitrust approvals.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report contains certain statements that may be considered "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical or current fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, cash flows, dividends, capital expenditures, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed acquisition plans, new services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. In this Item 2, statements relating to the ability of our infrastructure to support future growth, our transaction with Swift, the flexibility of our model to adapt to market conditions, our ability to recruit and retain qualified drivers, our ability to react to market conditions, our ability to gain market share, our ability and desire to expand our Brokerage business, future equipment prices, potential acquisitions, our equipment purchasing plans and equipment turnover, the expected freight environment and economic and political conditions, future inflation, whether we grow organically, our ability to obtain favorable pricing terms from vendors and suppliers, expected liquidity and methods for achieving sufficient liquidity, future fuel prices, future expenses and our ability to control costs, future third-party service provider relationships and availability, future compensation arrangements with independent contractors and drivers, our expected need or desire to incur indebtedness, expected sources of liquidity for capital expenditures and allocation of capital, expected tractor trade-ins, expected sources of working capital and funds for acquiring revenue equipment,

expected capital expenditures, future asset utilization, future capital requirements, future return on capital, future trucking capacity, future consumer spending, expected freight demand and volumes, future rates, future depreciation and amortization, expected tractor and trailer fleet age, regulatory changes and the impact thereof, and future purchased transportation expense, among others, are forward-looking statements. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or phrases such as "believe," "may," "could," "expects," "estimates," "projects," "anticipates," "plans," "intends," "hopes," and similar terms and phrases. Forward-looking statements are based on currently available operating, financial, and competitive information. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, along with any supplements in Part II below, and various disclosures in our press releases, shareholder reports, and other filings with the SEC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Introduction

Business Overview

We offer a broad range of full truckload transportation and logistics services with one of North America's largest tractor fleets, operated through a nationwide network of service centers, and contractual access to thousands of third-party capacity providers. We have grown substantially by increasing the geographic reach of our service center network and by expanding the breadth of our services for customers. Our Trucking segment provides truckload transportation, including dedicated services, of various products, goods, and materials for our diverse customer base through our Dry Van, Refrigerated, and Drayage operating units. The Brokerage and Intermodal operating units of our Logistics segment provide a multitude of shipment solutions, including additional sources of truckload capacity and alternative transportation modes, by utilizing our vast network of third-party capacity providers and rail providers, as well as certain logistics, freight management, and other non-trucking services. Our objective is to operate our Trucking and Logistics businesses with industry-leading margins and growth while providing safe, high-quality, cost-effective solutions for our customers.

Factors that affect our results of operations are industry-wide economic factors, such as freight demand, truckload and rail intermodal capacity, fuel prices, inventory levels, industrial production, government regulation, and unemployment rates, as well as our capital allocation, sales and marketing, operating, and spending decisions. We measure our results through key metrics, such as the number of tractors we operate, our revenue per tractor (which includes primarily our revenue per total mile and our number of miles per tractor), freight volumes brokered to third-party capacity providers (including our rail partners), driver and independent contractor recruitment and retention, and our ability to control costs on a company-wide basis, as measured by cost per mile in our Trucking segment and non-GAAP operating ratio in both segments. Our success depends on our ability to efficiently and effectively manage our resources in providing transportation and logistics solutions to our customers in light of such factors. We evaluate the growth opportunities for each of our Trucking and Logistics businesses based on customer demand and supply chain trends, availability of drivers and third-party capacity providers, expected returns on invested capital, expected net cash flows, and our company-specific capabilities.

Recent Consolidated Results of Operations and Quarter-End Financial Condition

Our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2016, were as follows:

Total revenue decreased 0.3%, to \$271.2 million from \$272.1 million;

Revenue, before fuel surcharge, decreased 3.4%, to \$245.0 million from \$253.6 million;

Net income attributable to Knight Transportation decreased 35.4%, to \$14.9 million from \$23.0 million; and

Net earnings attributable to Knight Transportation per diluted share decreased to \$0.18 per share from \$0.28 per share.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The freight environment began seasonally weak in the first quarter of 2017, when compared to the same quarter last year, though a stronger, more typical seasonal freight environment developed toward the end of the quarter that was comparable with the same quarter last year. Various factors negatively affected our results on a year over year basis, including a decline in our loaded rate per mile and fewer miles per tractor, one less business day in the 2017 quarter, higher maintenance expense, increased driver recruiting costs, less gain on sale, increased net fuel cost as a percentage of revenue, and additional professional fees associated with the recently announced transaction with Swift. These increased costs were partially offset by a more favorable tax rate. Our leadership remains focused on improving the productivity of our assets, expanding our Brokerage business, and enhancing our cost control measures. Though we anticipate the difficult environment will continue throughout the first half of 2017, we expect improved results in the coming quarters.

In the first quarter of 2017, our Trucking segment achieved a GAAP operating ratio of 90.7% compared to 83.5% from the same quarter last year, and non-GAAP operating ratio of 89.5% compared to 82.0% from the same quarter last year. Please see the reconciliation table below for a reconciliation of GAAP operating ratio to non-GAAP operating ratio. Productivity, as measured by average trucking revenue per tractor, before trucking fuel surcharge, decreased 3.2%, year over year, attributable to a 2.3% lower average revenue per loaded mile, a 1.0% decrease in average miles per tractor, and a 10 basis point decrease in our non-paid empty mile percentage. We remain focused on improving the productivity of our assets, developing our freight network, and controlling costs, where in areas such as maintenance, driver pay, and professional fees, we experienced higher than normal inflation.

Our Logistics segment consists of Brokerage, Intermodal, and other logistics services. During the first quarter of 2017, the Logistics segment produced an operating ratio of 95.5% compared to 94.8% for the same quarter last year, on slightly lower revenue. During the first quarter of 2016, we exited our agricultural sourcing business, which contributed approximately 11.5% of our Logistics revenue in the first quarter of 2016. Excluding the revenue from the agricultural sourcing business, our Logistics segment increased revenue 9.5% in the first quarter of 2017 from the same quarter last year. Our Brokerage business, the largest component of our Logistics segment, increased revenue 14.3% in the first quarter of 2017 when compared to the same quarter last year, as load volume increased 18.5% and revenue per load decreased 3.6%. We plan to continue to invest in our logistics service offerings, including transportation management technology, which we believe will continue to improve our return on capital.

In the first quarter of 2017, we generated \$65.5 million in cash flow from operations and used \$11.6 million for capital expenditures net of equipment sales. We ended the quarter with \$44.8 million of cash, no long-term debt, and \$798.4 million of shareholders' equity.

Our liquidity is not materially affected by off-balance sheet transactions. See the discussion under "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Off-Balance Sheet Transactions" for a description of our off-balance sheet transactions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Consolidated Revenue and Expenses

We primarily generate revenue by transporting freight for our customers in our Trucking segment or arranging for the transportation of customer freight by third-party capacity providers in our Logistics segment. Our total revenue is reported under "Results of Operations" and categorized as (i) Trucking revenue, before fuel surcharge, (ii) Trucking fuel surcharge revenue, and (iii) Logistics revenue. Trucking revenue, before fuel surcharge, and Trucking fuel surcharge revenue are largely generated by the trucking services provided by our three Trucking operating units (Dry Van, Refrigerated, and Drayage) whereas Logistics revenue is mostly generated by the logistics services provided by our two Logistics operating units (Brokerage and Intermodal). We also provide logistics, freight management, sourcing, and other non-trucking services, such as used equipment sales and leasing to independent contractors and third-parties, through our Logistics business.

The total revenue and operating expenses of our Trucking and Logistics segments are similarly affected by certain factors that generally relate to, among other things, overall economic and weather conditions in the United States, customer inventory levels, specific customer demand, the levels of truckload and rail intermodal capacity, and availability of qualified drivers, independent contractors, and third-party capacity providers. See the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, along with various disclosures in our press releases, shareholder reports, and other filings with the SEC.

To reduce our risk to fuel price fluctuations in our Trucking segment, we have a fuel surcharge program under which we obtain from our customers additional fuel surcharges that generally recover a majority, but not all, of the increased fuel costs; however, we cannot ensure whether current recovery levels will continue in the future. In discussing our overall and segment-based results of operations, because changes in fuel costs typically cause fuel surcharge revenue to fluctuate, we identify Trucking fuel surcharge revenue separately and omit fuel surcharge revenue from our statistical calculations. We believe that omitting this potentially volatile source of revenue provides a more meaningful comparison of our operating results from period to period.

The following table sets forth revenue and operating income between the Trucking and Logistics segments for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in thousands).

Three Mont	hs	Three Months		
Ended		Ended		
March 31, 2	2017	March 31, 2016		
\$	%	\$	%	
\$218,690	80.6%	\$217,956	80.1%	
54,188	20.0	58,609	21.5	
272,878		276,565		
(28)	0.0	(38)	0.0	
(1,668)	(0.6)	(4,439)	(1.6)	
\$271,182	100 %	\$272,088	100 %	
\$20,260	89.5%	\$35,922	92.8%	
2,378	10.5	2,805	7.2	
\$22,638	100 %	\$38,727	100 %	
	Ended March 31, 2 \$ \$218,690 54,188 272,878 (28) (1,668) \$271,182 \$20,260 2,378	March 31, 2017 \$ % \$218,690 80.6% 54,188 20.0 272,878 (28) 0.0 (1,668) (0.6) \$271,182 100 % \$20,260 89.5% 2,378 10.5	Ended Ended March 31, 2017 March 31, 2 \$ % \$ \$218,690 80.6% \$217,956 54,188 20.0 58,609 272,878 276,565 (28) 0.0 (38) (1,668) (0.6) (4,439) \$271,182 100 % \$272,088 \$20,260 89.5% \$35,922 2,378 10.5 2,805	

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The primary measure we use to evaluate the profitability of our overall and segment based operations is operating ratio, measured both on a GAAP basis (operating expenses expressed as a percentage of revenue) and on a non-GAAP basis ("non-GAAP operating ratio") that many in our industry use (operating expenses, net of Trucking fuel surcharge revenue, expressed as a percentage of Trucking revenue, excluding Trucking fuel surcharge revenue). We believe the use of non-GAAP operating ratio allows us to more effectively compare periods while excluding the potentially volatile effect of changes in fuel prices. Our Board of Directors and management focus on our non-GAAP operating ratio as an indicator of our performance from period to period. We believe our presentation of non-GAAP operating ratio is useful because it provides investors and securities analysts the same information that we use internally to assess our core operating performance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Non-GAAP operating ratio is not a substitute for operating ratio measured in accordance with GAAP. There are limitations to using non-GAAP financial measures. Although we believe that non-GAAP operating ratio improves comparability in analyzing our period to period performance, it could limit comparability to other companies in our industry, if those companies define non-GAAP operating ratio differently. Because of these limitations, non-GAAP operating ratio should not be considered a measure of income generated by our business or discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. Management compensates for these limitations by primarily relying on GAAP results and using non-GAAP financial measures on a supplemental basis.

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation G, the following table reconciles consolidated GAAP operating ratio to consolidated non-GAAP operating ratio (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months		Three Months	
	Ended		Ended	
	March 31,	2017	March 31,	2016
GAAP Presentation :	\$	%	\$	%
Total revenue	\$271,182		\$272,088	
Total operating expenses	248,544	91.7%	233,361	85.8%
Operating income	\$22,638		\$38,727	

	Three Months		Three Mon	ths
	Ended		Ended	
	March 31, 2017 March 31			2016
Non-GAAP Presentation ⁽¹⁾ :	\$	%	\$	%
Total revenue	\$271,182		\$272,088	
Less fuel surcharge	(26,202)		(18,505)	
Revenue before fuel surcharge	244,980		253,583	
Total operating expenses	248,544		233,361	
Less fuel surcharge	(26,202)		(18,505)	
Total operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge	222,342	90.8%	214,856	84.7%
Operating income	\$22,638		\$38,727	

These items represent non-GAAP financial measures and are not substitutes for or superior to, and should be considered in addition to, the GAAP financial measures presented in the previous table.

Trucking Strategy and Segment Information

Our Trucking operating strategy is to achieve a high level of asset utilization within a highly disciplined operating system, while maintaining strict controls over our cost structure. To achieve these goals, we operate primarily in high-density, predictable freight lanes in select geographic regions and attempt to develop and expand our customer base around each of our service centers by providing multiple truckload services for each customer. This operating strategy allows us to take advantage of the large amount of freight transported in regional markets. Our service centers enable us to better serve our customers and work more closely with our driving associates. We operate a premium modern fleet to appeal to drivers and customers, reduce maintenance expenses and driver and equipment downtime, and enhance our fuel and other operating efficiencies. We employ technology in a cost-effective manner to assist us in controlling operating costs and enhancing revenue.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Trucking revenue is generated by our Dry Van, Refrigerated, and Drayage operating units. Generally, we are paid a predetermined rate per mile or per load for our Trucking services. Additional revenues are generated by charging for tractor and trailer detention, loading and unloading activities, dedicated services, and other specialized services, as well as through the collection of fuel surcharges to mitigate the impact of increases in the cost of fuel. The main factors that affect our Trucking revenue are the revenue per mile we receive from our customers, the percentage of miles for which we are compensated, and the number of loaded miles we generate with our equipment.

Effectively controlling our expenses is an important element of maximizing our profitability. The most significant expenses of our Trucking segment are primarily variable and include fuel and fuel taxes, driver-related expenses (such as wages, benefits, training, and recruitment) and costs associated with independent contractors (which are primarily included in purchased transportation expense recorded on the "Purchased transportation" line in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income). Expenses that have both fixed and variable components include maintenance expense (which includes costs for replacement tires for our revenue equipment) and our total cost of insurance and claims. These expenses generally vary with the miles we travel, but also have a controllable component based on safety, fleet age, efficiency, and other factors. The main fixed costs for our Trucking segment are the acquisition and depreciation of long-term assets (such as revenue equipment and service centers) and the compensation of non-driver personnel.

The primary measure we use to evaluate the profitability of our Trucking segment is operating ratio, measured both on a GAAP basis and on a non-GAAP basis that many in our industry use. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures," beginning on page 23, for the uses and limitations of non-GAAP financial measures.

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation G, the following table sets forth the Trucking segment operating ratio on a GAAP basis (dollars in thousands).

	Three Months		Three Months	
	Ended		Ended	
GAAP Presentation:	March 31,	2017	March 31,	2016
Trucking Segment	\$	%	\$	%
Revenue	\$218,690		\$217,956	
Operating expenses	198,430	90.7%	182,034	83.5%
Operating income	\$20,260		\$35,922	

The following table sets forth the non-GAAP operating ratio for our Trucking segment as if fuel surcharges are excluded from total revenue and instead reported as a reduction of operation expenses, excluding intersegment activity (dollars in thousands).

	Three Months	Three Months
	Ended	Ended
Non-GAAP Presentation ⁽¹⁾ :	March 31, 2017	March 31, 2016
Trucking Segment	\$ %	\$ %
Revenue	\$218,690	\$217,956
Less: Trucking fuel surcharge revenue	(26,202)	(18,505)
Less: Intersegment transactions	(28)	(38)
Revenue, net of fuel surcharge and intersegment transactions	192,460	199,413
Operating expenses	198,430	182,034
Less: Trucking fuel surcharge revenue	(26,202)	(18,505)
Less: Intersegment transactions	(28)	(38)
Operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge and intersegment transactions	172,200 89.59	% 163,491 82.0%

Operating income \$20,260 \$35,922

These items represent non-GAAP financial measures and are not substitutes for or superior to, and should be considered in addition to, the GAAP financial measures presented in the previous table.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

When evaluating Trucking revenue, we consider the following key operating statistics for each period: (i) average revenue per tractor; (ii) average length of haul (miles with loaded trailer cargo); (iii) average percentage of non-paid empty miles (miles without trailer cargo); and (iv) average number of tractors and trailers in operation. The following table sets forth certain key operating statistics and certain other statistical data of the Trucking segment for the indicated periods.

	Three	Three
	Months	Months
	Ended	Ended
	March	March
	31,	31,
	2017	2016
Average revenue per tractor ⁽¹⁾	\$41,177	\$42,528
Average length of haul (miles)	497	496
Non-paid empty mile percent	12.6 %	12.7 %
Average tractors in operation during period	4,674	4,689
Average trailers in operation during period	12,444	11,967

Average revenue per tractor is based on trucking revenue, net of intersegment transactions, and does not include fuel surcharge revenue.

Our Trucking segment requires substantial capital expenditures for purchases of new revenue equipment. We fund these purchases with cash flows from operations and financing available under our existing line of credit. We operated an average of 4,674 tractors in the first quarter of 2017, of which 4,174 were company-owned tractors as of March 31, 2017. The average age of our company-owned tractor fleet was 2.4 years in the quarter ended March 31, 2017, and we do not expect a significant change in the average age through the remainder of 2017. We also operated an average of 12,444 trailers in the first quarter of 2017, with an average age of 3.8 years. Our net property and equipment at March 31, 2017, was \$779.1 million, most of which relates to our Trucking segment.

Our capital expenditures can also affect depreciation expense. Trucking depreciation relates primarily to our owned tractors, trailers, electronic logging devices and other communication units, and other similar assets. Changes to this fixed cost are generally attributed to increases or decreases to company-owned equipment and fluctuations in new equipment purchase prices, which have historically been precipitated in part by new or proposed federal and state regulations (such as the EPA engine emissions requirements relating to post-2014 model tractors and the California trailer efficiency requirements). Depreciation can also be affected by the cost of used equipment that we sell or trade and the replacement of older used equipment. Our management periodically reviews the condition, average age, and reasonableness of estimated useful lives and salvage values of our equipment and considers such factors in light of our experience with similar assets, used equipment market conditions, and prevailing industry practice. Total Trucking segment depreciation and amortization expense was approximately \$28.3 million in the first quarter of 2017.

Logistics Strategy and Segment Information

Logistics revenue is generated primarily by our Brokerage and Intermodal operating units. We also provide logistics, freight management and other non-trucking services to our customers through our Logistics business. We are generally paid a predetermined rate per mile or per load for arranging freight transportation for our customers and providing other Logistics services. Additional revenue is generated by offering specialized logistics solutions (including, but not limited to, origin management, surge volumes, disaster relief, special projects, and other logistics needs). Our Logistics revenue is mainly affected by the rates we obtain from customers, the freight volumes we ship through our third-party capacity providers, and our ability to secure qualified third-party capacity providers to

transport customer freight.

Our Logistics segment is less asset-intensive and is instead dependent upon capable non-driver personnel, modern and effective information technology, and qualified third-party capacity providers. The most significant expense of our Logistics segment, which is primarily variable, is the cost of purchased transportation that we pay to third-party capacity providers (including our rail providers), which is included in the "Purchased transportation" line in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income. This expense generally varies depending upon truckload and rail capacity, availability of third-party capacity providers, rates charged to customers, and current freight demand and customer shipping needs. Other Logistics operating expenses are generally fixed and primarily include the compensation and benefits of non-driver personnel (recorded on the "Salaries, wages and benefits" line in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income) and depreciation and amortization expense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The following table sets forth the Logistics segment revenue, operating expenses, and operating income (dollars in thousands).

	Three Months		Three Months	
	Ended		Ended	
	March 31,		March 31,	
	2017		2016	
Logistics	\$	%	\$	%
Revenue	\$54,188		\$58,609	
Operating expenses	51,810	95.6%	55,804	95.2%
Operating income	\$2,378		\$2,805	

The following table sets forth the Logistics segment revenue, operating expenses, and operating income, excluding intersegment transactions (dollars in thousands).

	Three Months Three Mon		nths		
	Ended Ended				
	March 31, 2017 March 31		March 31,	31, 2016	
Logistics	\$	%	\$	%	
Revenue	\$54,188		\$58,609		
Less: Intersegment transactions	(1,668)		(4,439)		
Revenue excluding intersegment transactions	52,520		54,170		
Operating expenses	51,810		55,804		
Less: Intersegment transactions	(1,668)		(4,439)		
Operating expenses excluding intersegment transactions	50,142	95.5%	51,365	94.8%	
Operating income	\$2,378		\$2,805		

We primarily measure the Logistics segment's profitability by reviewing the gross margin percentage (revenue net of intersegment transactions, less purchased transportation expense, net of intersegment transactions, expressed as a percentage of revenue, net of intersegment transactions) and the operating ratio. The gross margin percentage can be affected by customer rates and the costs of securing third-party capacity providers. Our third-party capacity providers are generally not subject to long-term or predetermined contracted rates, and our operating results could be affected if the availability of third-party capacity providers or the rates for such providers change in the future. The following table lists the gross margin percentage for our Brokerage and Intermodal businesses combined.

Three	Three
Months	Months
Ended	Ended
March	March
31,	31,
2017	2016
14 1	% 187 %

Combined Brokerage and Intermodal gross margin percent⁽¹⁾

Our Logistics segment does not require significant capital expenditures and is not asset-intensive like our Trucking segment. Rather, our Logistics segment depends on effective usage of information systems and technology that enable us to efficiently arrange for the transportation of our customers' freight and remain resourceful and responsive

Gross margin percentage is based on Logistics segment revenue and purchased transportation, net of intersegment transactions.

in meeting customer shipping needs. As our Logistics services evolve, we may incur costs to upgrade, integrate, or expand our information systems and technology. Total Logistics segment depreciation and amortization expense was approximately \$1.4 million in the first quarter of 2017, primarily attributed to equipment leased to third parties.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Trends and Outlook

For the remainder of the first half of 2017, we expect the freight environment to continue to be challenging until capacity begins to tighten as a result of a weak demand for used equipment, and additional regulatory burdens expected to phase in over the coming quarters. We expect the environment to become more favorable in late 2017, as we believe capacity will continue to exit the market and pricing will respond positively. Market factors that include higher driver wages, lower gain on sale of revenue equipment, increased fuel costs, and fewer non-contract opportunities may negatively affect our margins in our Trucking and Logistics segments. In this environment, we plan to limit organic fleet expansion, focus on cost control, and grow revenues in our Logistics segment.

Over the medium- to long-term, we believe capacity in the truckload market will be constrained by an increasingly competitive driver market, elevated regulatory costs for trucking companies and drivers, and potentially alternative employment opportunities for drivers we wish to hire. These factors are expected generally to have a positive impact on industry-wide rate structures. However, reduced hours of operation and driver shortage could negatively affect equipment utilization, even in a stronger demand environment. Accordingly, our driver development program remains a primary focus for our management team. We believe carriers that are well-positioned to develop and retain drivers, withstand supply and demand fluctuations, and provide safe, dependable, and high-quality service to customers will have opportunities to increase freight rates and market share. We believe domestic and global economic and political conditions present the most direct challenges to improved freight demand. These threats include the possibility that rising energy prices, an inability of the United States government to timely and adequately address fiscal issues, currency fluctuations, or other factors outside our control could reduce consumer spending or industrial investment, thus negatively affecting freight volumes. In addition, the competitive landscape and the supply chains of our customers are constantly shifting based on manufacturing and transportation costs, business combinations, inventory levels, and other factors.

Several issues impacting the trucking industry could also cause our costs to increase for the remainder of 2017. These issues include driver and independent contractor availability, fuel price fluctuations, increases in new tractor and trailer purchase prices, and changes in federal and state regulations. From a cost perspective, recruiting and retaining sufficient numbers of qualified drivers, independent contractors, and third-party capacity providers may become increasingly costly, equipment prices may continue to rise, medical, workers' compensation, and litigation expenses are increasing more rapidly than general inflation, and potentially higher fuel prices may not be fully offset by fuel surcharges. In the current economic and regulatory environments, it will be important to allocate equipment to more profitable shipments, use technology to generate efficiencies, continue to grow our Logistics segment, and effectively manage costs. We believe we have the service center network, modern tractor fleet, comprehensive truckload and logistics services, management team and qualified personnel, technology, intense focus on cost control, and capital resources necessary to successfully overcome these challenges and capitalize on future opportunities.

We expect to utilize the flexibility of our model to react and adapt to market conditions. We believe we can optimize our model and refine our execution in reaction to, or in anticipation of, transportation market dynamics, particularly the markets for truckload and logistics services that we offer.

The pending transaction with Swift will create a holding company structure that will create the industry's largest full truckload company, enabling the Knight and Swift businesses to operate under common ownership and share best practices, while maintaining distinct brands and operations. The combined company will remain headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona, operating with approximately 23,000 tractors, 77,000 trailers, and 28,000 employees. The transaction, which is expected to close in the third quarter of 2017, is subject to customary conditions, including the approval of the shareholders of Knight and Swift, as well as antitrust approvals.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the consolidated statements of income in dollars and as a percentage of total revenue and the percentage increase or decrease in the dollar amounts of those items compared to the prior year (dollars in thousands).

	Three Months		Three Months			
	Ended		Ended		%	
	March 31, 2017		March 31, 2016		Change	
	\$	%	\$	%	%	
Trucking revenue	\$192,460	71.0 %	\$199,413	73.3 %	(3.5)%	
Trucking fuel surcharge revenue	26,202	9.7	18,505	6.8	41.6	
Logistics revenue	52,520	19.4	54,170	19.9	(3.0)	
Consolidated Revenue	271,182	100.0	272,088	100.0	(0.3)	
Operating expenses:						
Salaries, wages and benefits	82,510	30.4	83,603	30.7	(1.3)	
Fuel	35,232	13.0	26,771	9.9	31.6	
Operations and maintenance	20,653	7.6	18,010	6.6	14.7	
Insurance and claims	8,571	3.2	8,823	3.2	(2.9)	
Operating taxes and licenses	4,431	1.6	5,487	2.0	(19.2)	
Communications	1,186	0.5	1,205	0.5	(1.6)	
Depreciation and amortization	29,682	11.0	28,402	10.5	4.5	
Purchased transportation ⁽¹⁾	58,625	21.6	57,785	21.2	1.5	
Miscellaneous operating expenses	7,654	2.8	3,275	1.2	133.7	
Total operating expenses	248,544	91.7	233,361	85.8	6.5	
Operating income	22,638	8.3	38,727	14.2	(41.5)	
Interest income	58	0.0	94	0.0	(38.3)	
Interest expense	(82)	0.0	(301)	(0.1)	(72.8)	
Other income	722	0.3	1,286	0.5	(43.9)	
Total other income (expense)	698	0.3	1,079	0.4	(35.3)	
Income before income taxes	23,336	8.6	39,806	14.6	(41.4)	
Income taxes	8,230	3.0	16,336	5.9	(49.6)	
Net income	\$15,106	5.6 %	\$23,470	8.7 %	(35.6)%	
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest	(230)	(0.1)	(453)	(0.2)	(49.2)	
Net income attributable to Knight Transportation	\$14,876	5.5 %	\$23,017	8.5 %	(35.4)%	

Purchased transportation expense is comprised of (a) payments to independent contractors, which is primarily (1) attributed to our Trucking segment; (b) payments to third-party capacity providers, which is primarily attributed to our Logistics segment; and (c) payments relating to our logistics, freight management and non-trucking services.

A discussion of our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 is set forth below.

Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 to Three Months Ended March 31, 2016.

Total revenue decreased slightly for the three months ended March 31, 2017, to \$271.2 million from \$272.1 million for the same three months in 2016. During the first quarter of 2017, we experienced a less robust freight environment when compared to the same quarter in 2016. Both our Trucking and Logistics segments experienced a moderate freight market where excess capacity reduced contract pricing and non-contract opportunities were limited, when

compared to the prior year, which combined with fewer trucks, lower fuel surcharge revenue, and less non-Trucking services revenue, led to the slight decline in total revenue. In addition to the softer freight environment, we no longer had revenue from the agricultural sourcing business we exited during the first quarter of 2016, which accounted for approximately 11.5% of our Logistics revenue in the first quarter of 2016.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Trucking revenue decreased 3.5% to \$192.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, from \$199.4 million for the same three months in 2016. Trucking revenue decreased primarily due to a 3.2% decrease in tractor productivity, as measured by average revenue, before fuel surcharge, per tractor, in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same three months in 2016. The decreased revenue per tractor was attributable to a decrease of 2.3% in average revenue per loaded mile, and a 1.0% decrease in average miles per tractor, partially offset by a slightly improved non-paid empty mile percentage. A slightly reduced tractor count also contributed to the decrease in Trucking revenue. Although the freight environment was weak during much of the quarter and improved slightly in March, we expect improved results as the year progresses as we anticipate capacity tightening and rates to begin to improve. Any adverse changes in either of these factors, among others, could prevent rate increases or negatively affect existing rates.

Trucking fuel surcharge increased 41.6% to \$26.2 million in the first quarter of 2017, from \$18.5 million in the same quarter of 2016. Average fuel prices increased by 24.0% in the three months ended March 31, 2017 from the same three months in 2016. Typical fuel surcharge programs involve a computation based on the change in national or regional fuel prices. These programs may update as often as weekly, but typically require a specified minimum change in fuel cost to prompt a change in fuel surcharge revenue for our Trucking segment. Therefore, many of these programs have a time lag between when fuel costs change and when the change is reflected in fuel surcharge revenue for our Trucking segment.

Logistics revenue decreased 3.0% to \$52.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, from \$54.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The decrease is primarily due to exiting our agricultural sourcing business during the first quarter of 2016, which contributed 11.5% of our Logistics revenue in the three months ended March 31, 2016. Excluding the agricultural sourcing revenue, our Logistics segment revenue increased 9.5% in the three months ended March 31, 2017, as compared to the same three months of 2016. Our Brokerage business, which is the largest component of our Logistics segment, increased revenue 14.3% in the first quarter of 2017 compared to the same quarter of 2016 as a result of load volume increasing 18.5% and revenue per load decreasing 3.6% year over year. We achieved this growth by providing more capacity to our customers through our third-party carriers and rail providers.

Operating Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits expense, as a percentage of total revenue, decreased slightly to 30.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to 30.7% for the same period in 2016. Costs associated with healthcare benefits provided to our employees and accruals for workers' compensation benefits are components of our salaries, wages and benefits in our consolidated statements of income. Excluding the effect of higher fuel surcharge revenue and lower Trucking revenue, salaries, wages and benefits expense, including driver wages, remained relatively flat in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same three months in 2016. Driver wages is the largest component of salaries, wages and benefits expense, and we believe the driver market will continue to remain challenging and that several ongoing market factors, including the CSA implementation of stricter regulations, has further reduced the pool of available drivers. Having a sufficient number of qualified driving associates continues to be a major concern, although we continue to seek ways to attract and retain qualified driving associates, including investing in technology and service centers that improve the experience of drivers.

Fuel expense, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 13.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, from 9.9% in same period of 2016. The U.S. National Average Diesel Fuel Price increased by 24.0% in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same three months in 2016. Our fuel surcharge program helps to offset increases in fuel prices, but applies only to loaded miles and typically does not offset non-paid empty miles, idle time, and out of route miles driven. Typical fuel surcharge programs involve a computation based on the change in national or regional fuel prices. These programs may update as often as weekly, but typically require a specified minimum

change in fuel cost to prompt a change in fuel surcharge revenue for our Trucking segment. Therefore, many of these programs have a time lag between when fuel costs change and when the change is reflected in fuel surcharge revenue for our Trucking segment. Due to this time lag, our fuel expense, net of fuel surcharge, negatively impacts our operating income during periods of sharply rising fuel costs and positively impacts our operating income during periods of falling fuel costs. During the first quarter of 2017, fuel prices were rising, while during the first quarter of 2016, they were falling We continue to utilize our fuel efficiency initiatives such as trailer blades, idle-control, updating our fleet with more fuel-efficient engines and driver training programs that we believe will help to control our fuel expense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Operations and maintenance expense, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 7.6% from 6.6% in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same period in 2016. Operations and maintenance expense consists of direct operating expense, equipment maintenance, and tire expense. During the first quarter of 2017, our direct operating and maintenance costs, specifically tolls, operating supplies, and development and recruiting costs, increased as a percentage of total revenue, excluding Trucking fuel surcharge. These rising costs were partially offset by a reduction in our tire costs as compared to the same quarter of 2016. With rising equipment prices and a soft used equipment market, we extended our tractor trade cycle beginning in the third quarter of 2016. Accordingly, equipment maintenance expense increased during the first quarter of 2017, as compared to the first quarter of 2016, as we are maintaining our tractors for an extended period. Further, first quarter 2017 weather adversely impacted our maintenance expense. We expect the driver market to remain competitive in 2017, which could increase future driver development and recruiting costs and negatively affect our operations and maintenance expense.

Insurance and claims expense, as a percentage of total revenue, and revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained flat at 3.2% in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. Insurance and claims expense consists of premiums for liability, physical damage, and cargo, and will vary based upon the frequency and severity of claims, as well as our level of self-insurance, and premium expense.

Operating taxes and license expense, as a percentage of total revenue, decreased to 1.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to 2.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in real estate and personal property tax accruals for certain states. This expense line item is impacted by changes in various fuel tax rates and registration fees associated with our tractor fleet and regional operating facilities.

Communications expense, as a percentage of total revenue, remained flat at 0.5% in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. Communications expense is comprised of our tractor and trailer tracking systems, information technology systems, and phone systems.

Depreciation and amortization expense, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 11.0% in the three months ended March 31, 2017, from 10.5% in the three months ended March 31, 2016. Depreciation expense as a percentage of total revenue, excluding Trucking fuel surcharge, increased to 12.1% in the three months ended March 31, 2017, from 11.2% in the same three months in 2016. This fixed cost as a percentage of both total revenue, and revenue, excluding Trucking fuel surcharge, was higher as a result of less revenue and lower miles, combined with higher new equipment prices. Depreciation and amortization expense for our Trucking segment as a percentage of Trucking revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 14.7% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, from 13.8% for the same three months in 2016. Factors contributing to the increase were a 3.2% decrease in our average revenue per tractor, rising new equipment prices, and an increase in our tractor to trailer ratio. Depreciation in our Logistics segment also increased as a percentage of logistics revenue due to a combination of less revenue and an increase in equipment leased to third parties. Absent offsetting improvements in average revenue per tractor or growth in our Logistics operations, our expense as a percentage of revenue in this category could increase in the future. Our extended expected trade cycle for our tractors is expected to reduce capital expenditures and restrict higher depreciation and amortization costs in the future. In implementing the extended trade cycle, we have been proactive in managing our preventative maintenance program with a goal of mitigating the additional maintenance cost commonly associated with a slightly older fleet.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purchased transportation expense, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 21.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, from 21.2% for the same three months of 2016. Purchased transportation expense is comprised of (i) payments to independent contractors for our Dry Van, Refrigerated, and Drayage operations in our Trucking segment; (ii) payments to third-party capacity providers for our Brokerage operations and to railroads for our Intermodal operations; and (iii) payments relating to logistics freight management and non-Trucking services in our Logistics segment. The increase is due, in part, to the overall decrease in total revenue. Purchased transportation expense expressed as a percentage of total revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 23.9% in the first quarter in 2017, compared to 22.8% in the same quarter of 2016. Purchased transportation expense attributed to payments to independent contractors in our Trucking segment increased as the proportion of our tractor fleet comprised of independent contractors increased in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2016. Purchased transportation expense decreased in our Logistics segment during the first quarter of 2017. This decrease was due to the elimination of costs associated with our agricultural sourcing business we exited during the first quarter of 2016. Excluding the purchased transportation costs associated with the agricultural sourcing business, purchased transportation costs associated with our Logistics segment increased as expected with the increase in Logistics revenue, excluding revenue from the agricultural sourcing business. Purchased transportation generally take into account changes in diesel fuel prices, resulting in higher payments during periods of rising fuel prices, such as in the first quarter of 2017. We expect purchased transportation will increase as a percentage of total revenue if we are successful in continuing to grow our Logistics segment.

Miscellaneous operating expenses, as a percentage of total revenue, increased to 2.8% during the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to 1.2% for the same three months in 2016. This increase is primarily due to a decrease in gains from the sale of used equipment that is included in miscellaneous operating expenses. Gains from the sale of used equipment decreased to \$0.8 million in the three months ended March 31, 2017, from \$3.2 million in the same three months in 2016. Increased professional fees associated with the transaction with Swift also contributed to the increase in this expense. We believe the used equipment market will continue to help offset other miscellaneous operating expenses, but not to the extent we experienced in prior years, as the used equipment market softened beginning in the third quarter of 2015 and we expect a similar environment through the first half of 2017.

As a result of the above factors, our GAAP operating ratio (operating expenses expressed as a percentage of total revenue) was 91.7% for the first quarter of 2017, compared to 85.8% for the same quarter of 2016. Our non-GAAP operating ratio was 90.8% for the first quarter of 2017, as compared to 84.7% for the same quarter of 2016. Please see the reconciliation table above for a reconciliation of GAAP operating ratio to non-GAAP operating ratio.

Net interest expense decreased by 0.1% as a percentage of total revenue. Our maximum borrowing limit under our revolving credit facility remains at \$300.0 million, but we paid our outstanding borrowings in full during the three months ended March 31, 2017, from \$18.0 million at December 31, 2016.

Other income decreased to 0.3% as a percentage of total revenue, in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to 0.5%, for the same three months of 2016. Other income is comprised of income from investment activity, primarily from realized gains on sale of available-for-sale securities, which were disposed of in full as at September 30, 2016.

We provide for income taxes at the statutory federal and state rates, adjusted for certain permanent differences between financial statement income and income for tax reporting. Our effective tax rate was 35.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 41.5% for the same three months in 2016. We adopted ASU 2016-09 in the fourth quarter of 2016, and the results for the three months ended March 31, 2016 are presented as if we adopted the guidance as of the beginning of 2016. The adoption requires the excess tax benefit arising from stock awards vesting or settling to be recorded as a reduction to income tax expense in the condensed consolidated statements of income instead of additional paid in capital on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Each of the three month periods

ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 reflect this change, although the excess tax benefit recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2017 was greater than in the three months ended March 31, 2016 as more stock awards vested and settled at a higher price during the 2017 period. Furthermore, we recorded a \$0.7 million reserve for uncertain tax positions in the three months ended March 31, 2016, while no comparable entry was made in the three months ended March 31, 2017.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Due to the net result of the preceding financial results, our net income attributable to Knight Transportation decreased 35.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same period during 2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The growth of our business has required, and will continue to require, significant investments. In our Trucking business, where investments are substantial, the primary investments are in new tractors and trailers, and to a lesser extent, in technology, service centers, and working capital. In our Logistics business, where investments are modest, the primary investments are in technology and working capital. Our primary sources of liquidity have been funds provided by operations and borrowings under our line of credit.

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$65.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to \$69.4 million provided during the same period in 2016. The decrease for 2017 is due to the decrease in net income in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to the same three months in 2016.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$5.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to net cash used of \$19.0 million for the same period in 2016. Capital expenditures for the purchase of revenue equipment, net of equipment sales and trade-ins, office equipment, and land and leasehold improvements, net of equipment sales, was \$11.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. We contributed \$11.0 million to a TRP portfolio investment in the first quarter of 2016, while proceeds from the sales of available-for-sale securities was \$2.9 million; no comparable contributions or proceeds were made or received in the first quarter of 2017. Excluding acquisitions, we currently anticipate capital expenditures, net of trade-ins, of approximately \$80.0 million to \$100.0 million for the remainder of 2017. We expect to use our capital expenditure estimate primarily to acquire new revenue equipment for replacement purposes and not fleet growth.

Net cash used in financing activities was \$23.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to \$37.6 million for the same period in 2016. Net cash payments towards line of credit borrowings were \$18.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to \$6.0 million in the same period of 2016. We made no repurchases of our common stock in the first quarter of 2017, while we repurchased 1.1 million shares for \$27.1 million in the same quarter of 2016. Proceeds from exercises of stock options were \$2.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to \$2.6 million in the same period of 2016. We also paid \$5.1 million for dividends in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. We currently expect to continue to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future. Future payment of cash dividends, and the amount of any such dividends, will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, cash requirements, tax treatment, and certain corporate law requirements, as well as other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

We currently maintain a line of credit that permits revolving borrowings and letters of credit up to an aggregate of \$300.0 million and matures on August 1, 2019. During the first quarter of 2017, we paid down in full the aggregate amount outstanding under our line of credit from \$18.0 million as of December 31, 2016. Our borrowings under the line of credit are classified as a long-term liability in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. We also utilized a portion of our line of credit for letters of credit, which are issued to various regulatory authorities and insurance carriers in connection with our self-insurance programs. The issued but unused letters of credit totaled \$31.3 million as of March 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016. Combining the amounts borrowed and letters of credit issued, we had \$268.7 million available at March 31, 2017, for future borrowing under our existing line of credit, compared to \$250.7 million as of December 31, 2016. Under our current line of credit agreement, we are obligated to comply with certain financial and other covenants and were in compliance with those covenants as of March 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

As of March 31, 2017, our cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately \$44.8 million compared to \$8.0 million as of December 31, 2016. During the next twelve months and beyond, we believe that we will be able to finance our short-term needs for working capital and acquisitions of revenue equipment with cash, cash flows from operations, and financing available under our existing line of credit. We expect to have significant capital requirements over the long-term, which may require us to incur debt or seek additional equity capital. The availability of additional capital will depend upon prevailing market conditions, the market price of our common stock, our financial condition and results of operations, and several other factors over which we have limited control. Nevertheless, based on our recent operating results, current cash position, anticipated future cash flows, and sources of available financing, we do not expect that we will experience any significant liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

Our liquidity is not materially affected by off-balance sheet transactions. Like many other transportation companies, we have periodically utilized operating leases to finance a portion of our revenue equipment requirements and terminal facilities requirements. We lease revenue equipment under non-cancellable operating leases, and we lease some of our service centers and temporary trailer storage under non-cancellable operating leases. Operating lease expense for such equipment, facilities and trailer storage is reflected in the "Miscellaneous operating expenses" line in our condensed consolidated statements of income, and totaled \$1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, and \$1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires that management make a number of assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses in our condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions believed to be reasonable. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact us in the future, actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. Our critical accounting policies are those that affect, or could affect, our financial statements materially and involve a significant level of judgment by management. The accounting policies we deem most critical to us include revenue recognition, which we recognize when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable. These conditions are met upon delivery. Furthermore, in accordance with ASC 605-45, Revenue Recognition – Principal Agent Consideration, we account for revenue from our Trucking operations, our Logistics operations, and revenue on freight transported by independent contractors within our Trucking operations on a gross basis. We are the primary obligor in these arrangements, we have the ability to establish prices, we have discretion in selecting the independent contractor or other third party that will perform the service, we have the risk of loss in the event of cargo claims, and we bear the credit risk associated with customer payments. Accordingly, all such revenue billed to customers is classified as operating revenue and all corresponding payments to carriers for transportation services we arrange in connection with Brokerage and Intermodal activities, and to independent contractor providers of revenue equipment, are classified as purchased transportation expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income. Other accounting policies deemed critical include allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation, claims accrual, accounting for income taxes, and share based payments. There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to those disclosed in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," included in our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K. 34

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Seasonality

In the transportation industry, results of operations generally follow a seasonal pattern. Freight volumes in the first quarter are typically lower due to less consumer demand, customers reducing shipments following the holiday season, and inclement weather impeding operations. At the same time, operating expenses generally increase, and the tractor productivity of our fleet, independent contractors, and third-party carriers decreases during the winter months because of decreased fuel efficiency, increased cold weather-related equipment maintenance and repairs, and increased insurance claims and costs attributed to higher accident frequency from harsh weather. During this period, the profitability of our Trucking operations is generally lower than during other parts of the year. Additionally, we have seen surges between Thanksgiving and Christmas resulting from holiday shopping trends toward delivery of gifts purchased over the internet, as well as the impact of shorter holiday seasons.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information about market risks as of March 31, 2017, does not differ materially from that discussed under Item 7A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) to ensure that material information relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors. Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended March 31, 2017, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We base our internal control over financial reporting on the criteria set forth in the 2013 COSO Internal Control: Integrated Framework.

We have confidence in our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Nevertheless, our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors, misstatements, or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are a party to certain claims and pending litigation arising in the normal course of business. These proceedings primarily involve claims for personal injury or property damage incurred in the transportation of freight or for personnel matters, as well as certain class action litigation in which the plaintiffs allege claims for failure to provide meal and rest breaks, unpaid wages, unauthorized deductions, and other items. We maintain insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight in amounts in excess of self-insurance retentions.

Based on our present knowledge of the facts, and in certain cases, advice of outside counsel, management believes the resolution of open claims and pending litigation, taking into account existing reserves and accrued liabilities recorded, is not likely to have a materially adverse effect on us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

While we attempt to identify, manage, and mitigate risks and uncertainties associated with our business, some level of risk and uncertainty will always be present. On April 9, 2017, we entered into a merger agreement with Swift Transportation Company providing for a merger of our two companies, after which our respective businesses would operate separately under a single combined company. Due to the proposed merger, there have been changes to the risk factors presented in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors." For a discussion of some of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business, refer to the risk factors presented in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and the following risk factors relating to the proposed transaction with Swift:

Completion of the transaction with Swift is subject to a number of conditions, and if these conditions are not satisfied or waived (if permissible under applicable law), the transaction will not be completed.

Consummation of the transaction between Swift is subject to certain closing conditions, including, among others, (i) the approval and adoption by our shareholders of our merger agreement with Swift, and (ii) the approval by Swift's shareholders of the issuance of Swift shares in connection with the merger, and certain amendments to Swift's certificate of incorporation. There can be no assurance that the conditions to the completion of the transaction will be satisfied or waived (if permissible under applicable law) or that the transaction will be consummated. In addition, our merger agreement with Swift may be terminated under certain circumstances.

We will be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while our merger with Swift is pending.

Uncertainty about the effect of the proposed merger on employees, drivers, customers, suppliers, and others we deal with may have an adverse effect on us. These uncertainties may impair our ability to attract, retain, and motivate employees and drivers until the transaction is completed, and could cause customers and others that deal with the parties to seek to change existing business relationships with them. Retention of drivers and employees may be challenging during the pendency of the transaction, as drivers and employees may experience uncertainty about the future of the combined company. If drivers and employees depart because of issues related to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain with us, our business could be negatively impacted. Further, adverse effects arising during the pendency of the merger could be exacerbated by any delays in completing the merger.

Finally, our merger agreement with Swift restricts us from taking specified actions until the effective time of the merger without the consent of Swift. These restrictions may prevent us from pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the consummation of the transaction.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The merger may disrupt management's attention from our ongoing business operations.

We have expended, and expect to continue to expend, significant management resources to complete the merger. Management's attention may be diverted away from the day-to-day operations of our business, implementing initiatives to improve our performance throughout the remainder of 2017, and execution of our existing business plans in our efforts to complete the merger. This diversion of management resources could disrupt our operations and may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We expect to incur significant transaction-related costs in connection with the merger.

We expect to incur significant costs, expenses, and fees for professional services and other transaction costs in connection with the merger. The substantial majority of these costs will be non-recurring expenses relating to the merger, which we expect will include costs relating to integration of Swift's and our businesses. These costs could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations prior to the merger and the combined company's business, financial condition, and results of operations after the merger.

The combined company may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction.

The success of the merger will depend on, among other things, the combined company's ability to combine Swift's and our businesses in a manner that facilitates growth opportunities and realizes anticipated synergies. If we are not able to successfully combine Swift's and our businesses, the anticipated benefits of the transaction may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

				(d)
				Maximum
				Number of
			(c)	Shares that
			Total	May
			Number of	Yet Be
			Shares	Purchased
	(a)	(b)	Purchased	Under
	Total	Average	as Part of	the
	Number	Price	Publicly	Publicly
	of	Paid	Announced	Announced
	Shares	per	Plans or	Plans or
Period	Purchased	Share	Programs	Programs
January 1-31, 2017				
Common Stock Repurchase Program ⁽¹⁾	-	-	-	4,247,001
Other Transactions (2)	47,981	\$ 33.40	-	-
February 1-28, 2017				
Common Stock Repurchase Program ⁽¹⁾	-	-	-	4,247,001
Other Transactions (2)	-	-	-	-
March 1-31, 2017				
Common Stock Repurchase Program ⁽¹⁾	-	-	-	4,247,001
Other Transactions (2)	-	-	-	-
Total	47,981	\$ 33.40	-	4,247,001

In 2011, our Board of Directors unanimously authorized the repurchase of up to 10.0 million shares of our common stock. The repurchase authorization will remain in effect until the share limit is reached or the program is terminated. See Note 13 to the Condensed Consolidated Unaudited Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information with respect to our share repurchases.

Other Transactions include restricted shares of our common stock withheld and used to offset tax withholding (2) obligations that occurred upon vesting and release of restricted shares. The withholding of shares was permitted under the applicable award agreement and was not part of any stock repurchase program.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not Applicable

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item 5. Other Information

Not Applicable

38

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No.		Description
Exhibit 3		Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
	(3.1)	Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company. (Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed April 20, 2007.)
	(3.2)	2016 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2016.)
Exhibit 31		Section 302 Certifications
	(<u>31.1</u>)*	Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David A. Jackson, the Company's Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer).
	(31.2)*	Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Adam W. Miller, the Company's Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer).
Exhibit 32		Section 906 Certifications
32	(<u>32.1</u>)**	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David A. Jackson, the Company's Chief Executive Officer.
	(<u>32.2</u>)**	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Adam W. Miller, the Company's Chief Financial Officer.
Exhibit 101		Interactive Data File
	(101.SCH (101.CAL (101.DEF (101.LAB (101.PRE *Filed her	XBRL Instance Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC.

Date: May 10, 2017 By:/s/ David A. Jackson

David A. Jackson

Chief Executive Officer and President, in his capacity as such and on behalf of the registrant

Date: May 10, 2017 By:/s/ Adam W. Miller

Adam W. Miller

Chief Financial Officer, in his capacity as such and on behalf of the registrant